)21 Page 1 of 34

RECEIVED 12-23-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP226-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY L. HINEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. In cases involving credibility contests between a complaining witness (here, S.S.) and the defendant (Hineman), to what extent can a reviewing court reweigh the witnesses' credibility in assessing whether, based on omitted evidence, there was a reasonable likelihood of a different result under the *Brady* materiality or *Strickland* prejudice standards?

The court of appeals reversed a jury verdict finding Hineman guilty of first-degree child sexual assault and ordered a new trial. It concluded that a child-protective-services report that the State had failed to turn over to Hineman (and that had relevant portions summarized in a turned-over police report) was material. In assessing materiality, the court effectively reweighed each witness's credibility and testimony, though seemingly in the light most favorable to Hineman.

- 2. The court of appeals also reached an abandoned *Shiffra/Green* issue and ordered in camera review of S.S.'s therapy files from his private therapist because the therapist acted as a mandatory reporter.
- a. Did the court of appeals have authority to reach this issue, which Hineman did not raise as a direct claim on appeal, and did it have authority to reverse the postconviction court's ruling on a basis that Hineman never advanced?
- b. Was the fact that S.S.'s therapist made a mandatory report, without more, enough to satisfy the *Green* pleading standard permitting in camera review of S.S.'s therapy files "related to the report"?

The court of appeals did not address the State's argument that Hineman had abandoned his *Strickland*-based *Shiffra/Green* issue. It granted in camera review on a factual

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 5 of 34

basis different from what Hineman argued to the postconviction court or on appeal.

CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

It is not unusual for claims of sexual assault to lack physical evidence or other witnesses, and to boil down to credibility contests between the complaining witness and the defendant. When courts review alleged errors in these cases for prejudice or materiality, they are supposed to consider the effect of the error based on the totality of evidence presented at trial. Yet, reviewing courts frequently focus solely on how the improperly admitted (or excluded) evidence would impact the credibility of the complaining witness, not that of the defendant. They further base that assessment on written transcripts, ascribing no weight to the factors a jury considers in its credibility determination, including the witnesses' demeanor, delivery, body language, and tone. Effectively, the appellate court re-determines the jury's credibility determination based on a paper-only review.

That's what happened here. After a three-day trial, at which the jury weighed the testimony of nine-year-old S.S. and that of Hineman, the jury convicted Hineman of firstdegree sexual assault of a child. The charges were based on allegations by S.S. that when he was six years old, Hineman touched his privates. The court of appeals reversed that jury verdict based on the State's failure to turn over a report from a county child protective services agency that precipitated the later police investigation. The court of appeals held that because the missing report could have impacted S.S.'s credibility—contrary to the postconviction court's findings that the relevant portions of the report were disclosed, without scrutiny of Hineman's credibility, and with heavy scrutiny of S.S.'s statements—there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome. The court of appeals' analysis did not honor the standards requiring a totality-ofCase 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 6 of 34

the-evidence analysis for *Brady* materiality and *Strickland* prejudice. Beyond the court's reaching an incorrect result, this approach disproportionately imperils jury decisions in sexual assault cases, lowering a defendant's typically high burden to prove materiality or prejudice and making reversal in these credibility-based cases more likely.

Accordingly, this first issue considering the application of materiality and prejudice standards to cases turning on credibility involves "[a] real and significant question of federal . . . constitutional law," Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), and a decision by this Court "will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and . . . [t]he question presented . . . is [one] of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3.

The second issue reflects a need for this Court's guidance on what constitutes a properly raised and preserved claim on appeal. Guidance is also needed to address the scope of the reviewing courts' authority to reverse a decision of the lower court on grounds that the defendant never advanced. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. (a decision by this Court will help clarify the law on a novel issue that will have statewide impact).

Finally, to the extent that the issues here involve error correction, review is nevertheless warranted. The court of appeals threw out a jury verdict finding Hineman guilty of first-degree sexual assault of a child, one of the most serious crimes in Wisconsin. It is extremely unlikely that S.S. can participate in a new trial, in part because of the trauma Hineman has inflicted on him. Given the seriousness of the conviction, the postconviction/trial court's conclusion that Hineman received a fair trial, and the unlikelihood that the State can retry Hineman, a second look by this Court is warranted.

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 7 of 34

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury found Hineman guilty of first-degree child sexual assault, sexual contact with a person under age 13. (R. 31:1.) The charge was based on disclosures by S.S. that when he was six, Hineman touched S.S.'s "front private" and "back private" over his clothes. (R. 1:1–2.) The jury saw a video of a forensic interview in which S.S. disclosed the touching. Hineman denied the allegations; both S.S. and Hineman testified at trial.

Hineman re-entered S.S.'s life when S.S. was five.

As of October 2014, S.S. lived with his father (Dad) and his father's wife; his father's mother (Grandma) also was a caregiver. S.S.'s mother was not in the picture. Hineman, who had dated S.S.'s mother through his birth to when he was 10 months old, reintroduced himself in S.S.'s life when S.S. was around five years old. (R. 78:103.) Between 2013 and March 2015, Hineman helped the family with home repairs and maintenance. To S.S., Hineman was "Uncle Jeff." Hineman considered himself a father figure to S.S. and bought S.S. gifts and took him on outings. (R. 78:44, 80, 83.)

In late October 2014, Dad fell seriously ill and was hospitalized for two weeks. (R. 78:63–64.) While Dad was in the hospital, Hineman stayed at Dad's house and took care of S.S. alone for one of those weeks. (R. 78:64, 70.)

For Christmas that year, Hineman bought a bunkbed for S.S. for him to use when he slept over at S.S.'s house. Around that time, Grandma noticed that something was not right between Hineman and S.S. (R. 78:67.) Grandma learned through Dad that S.S. "didn't want to be around" Hineman; Grandma said Hineman "would get real upset and angry." (R. 78:67, 71.) Grandma "knew something was wrong" and "kept asking" S.S. to tell her what it was. S.S. "kept saying nothing." (R. 78:67.)

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 8 of 34

In early 2015, the family and S.S.'s teachers saw distressing changes in S.S.'s behavior. (R. 78:64.) Grandma said that S.S. "was messing in his pants. Messing in the bathrooms at school. Being disrespectful. His grades were going down." (R. 78:64.)

CPS, and later the police, investigated concerns about S.S. and potentially Hineman.

In March 2015, as a result of S.S.'s behavior, CPS became involved. (R. 78:89-90.) In addition to S.S.'s other behavior, CPS learned from a mandatory reporter that S.S. had been sucking on a pen at school and told a classmate that "it feels good to have your privates sucked on." (R. 78:104–05.) When asked where he had learned that, S.S. first said he saw it in a Garfield comic or movie. (R. 78:105–06.) According to CPS, Dad said that when he talked to S.S. about the pensucking incident, S.S. reported that he learned it from Hineman. (R. 41:30: 48:4.) CPSmemorialized information in a report ("the March report").

That March, Dad and Grandma cut off Hineman from contacting S.S. (R. 78:65, 88.)

Law enforcement first became involved in June 2015, when CPS faxed the March report (along with additional reports from April and June) to the Racine County Sheriff's Department; Investigator Tracy Hintz was assigned to follow up. (R. 78:76.) In July, Hintz spoke to Dad and Grandma, who agreed for S.S. to have a forensic interview with a child advocacy center (CAC). (R. 78:106–08, 112.)

S.S. disclosed that Hineman touched his privates during a forensic interview and at trial.

The forensic interview of S.S. occurred in August 2015, at which S.S. disclosed that Hineman had touched his private parts. The video of that interview played at trial. (R. 78:40.) In the interview, S.S. presented as a meek, soft-spoken child. (See generally R. 86.) When first asked by the interviewer,

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 9 of 34

Heather Jensen, why he came to talk that day, S.S. replied, "Because—," paused, and then quietly said, "I can't remember." (R. 86 at 08:22; 41:40.) After some back-and-forth, Jensen asked, "Did something happen to your body that you don't like?" (R. 86 at 09:25; 41:41.) S.S. nodded yes immediately and responded that "Uncle Jeff" was hurting him by punching and kicking him when they were at his house watching TV. (R. 86 at 09:25–11:06; 41:41–42.)

Jensen then asked S.S. whether Hineman "ever [did] anything else that you didn't like?" to which S.S. immediately responded, "He touched my private parts." (R. 86 at 12:58–13:08; 41:44.) S.S. said that Hineman did this while they were on the couch and his parents were sleeping. (R. 86 at 13:18–28; 41:45.) S.S. said that Hineman "laughed at him," then S.S. woke his parents and told them. (R. 86 at 13:43–45; 41:45.) S.S. said that this touching occurred in winter and that Hineman did that "kind of touching" four times; later, he said it happened six times. (R. 86 at 15:54–55, 16:18–19, 30:08–25; 41:48, 59.) S.S. initially said that Hineman only touched his "front private" but later disclosed that Hineman also touched his back private. (R. 86 at 17:22–23, 19:00–06; 41:49–50.) S.S. said that the touching occurred over his clothes. (R. 86 at 19:15–52; 41:50–51.)

Jensen asked S.S. whether Hineman wanted S.S. "to do something to his privates." (R. 86 at 31:01; 41:59.) S.S. started shaking his head, then paused and said, "Yeah, but I didn't do it," when Hineman told S.S. to touch his privates with his hand. (R. 86 at 31:06–22; 41:59–60.)

S.S. also said that Hineman told him "[t]o not tell anybody" about what he did, but S.S. said that he told his mom and dad. (R. 86 at 21:21–47; 41:52.) S.S. said that Hineman was "staying" at his house and sleeping on the floor in his (S.S.'s) bedroom. (R. 86 at 21:54–22:20; 41:53.) When asked what he liked and disliked about Hineman, S.S. said that he liked Hineman because he "always used to buy me

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 10 of 34

toys," but didn't like him "[w]hen he was touching me." (R. 86 at 32:25–42; 41:61.)

When asked about the time "Uncle Jeff [was] taking care of you when your dad was away" (R. 86 at 22:25; 41:54), S.S. responded that Hineman was "taking bad care of me" by being mean, calling S.S. names, and pushing S.S. (R. 86 at 22:30–24:15, 28:45–30:04; 41:54–55). S.S. did not say that Hineman touched his privates during that time.

S.S., who was then nine, testified at trial. (R. 78:44.) He still had difficulty talking about the events at issue and acknowledged that he felt "nervous." (R. 78:48.) Ultimately, S.S. testified that "something happened" when his dad was ill and Hineman came to stay at S.S.'s house. (R. 78:46–47.) After initially repeating that he "didn't remember," he agreed that Hineman "did something to [him] that [S.S.] didn't like." (R. 78:47.) He disclosed that Hineman touched his body when they were on the couch watching cartoons. (R. 78:49.) He said it was daytime and they were alone. (R. 78:49.) "I just didn't feel right," S.S. said, because "I think he touched me on my private part." (R. 78:49.) S.S. said he used the private part to go "number one" in the bathroom. (R. 78:49–50.)

Hineman denied the allegations but made false and inconsistent statements.

Police did not begin investigating Hineman until August 2015, after S.S.'s CAC interview. The day after the interview, Investigator Hintz contacted Hineman at his home. (R. 78:81.) Hineman was not home, but while outside his apartment the police saw him in a truck that slowed past their parked squad car and drove on. (R. 78:81–82.) Within minutes, Hintz spoke to Hineman over the phone and asked him to return, but Hineman lied that he was an hour away and could not. (R. 78:82.) Within minutes, however, Hineman returned, was taken into custody, and was interviewed. (R. 78:82–83.)

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 11 of 34

Hineman told Hintz that he cared for S.S. "like he was his son" and that S.S. called him "Uncle Jeff." (R. 78:83.) Hineman bought S.S. toys, clothes, and a bunkbed. (R. 78:84–85.) Hineman said that he also gave S.S. money, that he created a savings account for S.S., and that he was saving for a boat to give S.S. when he was an adult. (R. 78:85.)

Hineman denied ever touching S.S. When Hintz asked why he thought the family cut him off and S.S. alleged the assault, Hineman suggested that the family was mad that they couldn't access the savings account he'd created for S.S. (R. 78:88.) When it was pointed out that the family cut him off months before they learned about the savings account, Hineman offered a different reason: they were mad because he stopped doing things to help Dad around the house. (R. 78:88–89.) When Hintz told Hineman that he'd been helping the family up until they cut off contact in March, Hineman didn't have an explanation. (R. 78:88–89, 91.)

Hineman testified. He generally agreed with the timelines that Grandma had described as to when he got involved in S.S.'s life, watching S.S. while Dad was hospitalized, and last seeing S.S. and his family in March. (R. 78:132, 134–35, 137, 146.) He denied ever striking or inappropriately touching S.S. (R. 78:140.) At trial, Hineman offered a new theory to explain the allegations: he saw a "significant change" in Dad after he was ill and Dad and Grandma got mad at him he expressed critical opinions. (R. 78:136–37.) At trial, Hineman also tried to downplay his involvement with S.S. and his family, denying (despite recordings to the contrary) that he described S.S. as his "son" to others and that S.S. regularly called him "Uncle Jeff." (R. 78:147–48.)

The jury found Hineman guilty. (R. 31:1.) After he was sentenced, Hineman filed postconviction motions (R. 40; 41; 55) in which he raised numerous grounds for relief, including allegations of a *Brady* violation and numerous claims of

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 12 of 34

ineffective assistance of counsel. The primary claims related to the fact that in discovery, Hineman did not receive the March report, which prompted the law enforcement investigation. In Hineman's view, the March report was important because it contained S.S.'s allegation regarding the pen-sucking incident. Accordingly, Hineman claimed that the lack of report was either a prejudicial *Brady* violation (based on the State's failure to turn it over to him)¹ or ineffective assistance of counsel (for failing to file a motion to compel production of the report).

As it relates to the court of appeals' decision and this petition, Hineman also claimed, among other allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, that trial counsel should have filed a *Shiffra/Green* motion seeking in camera review of S.S.'s private therapy files. As a factual basis to support that claim, Hineman argued that based on the police report that counsel received, counsel should have filed a Shiffra/Green motion because "SJS was in counseling before the allegations surfaced in the spring of 2015 and continued in therapy afterwards," certain therapy techniques could risk creating false memories, and any discussions about Hineman or family relationships in therapy could affect the reliability of S.S.'s allegations and expose "other abusive elements in [S.S.'s] life." (R. 41:19–20.) Hineman later argued that the fact that the March CPS report reflected that S.S.'s therapist was the mandatory reporter would have supported Shiffra/Green motion. (R. 55:8–9.)

The postconviction court was the same court that presided over trial. After two hearings, including a *Machner*

¹ The State's failure to turn over the CPS reports was inadvertent: the prosecutor did not have the reports (the sheriff's office did not include them in the materials it had provided the prosecutor), and neither the prosecutor nor defense counsel followed up on that omission.

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 13 of 34

hearing at which Hineman's trial counsel testified, the postconviction court denied all the claims in a written decision and order. (R. 62.)

As for the claims related to the nondisclosure of the CPS reports, the court found that of the March, April, and June CPS reports, "[t]he March . . . report is the only report of consequence." (R. 62:6.) It said that the relevant information in that report, however, was "largely contained in the first report by Investigator Hintz," which Hineman had received in discovery. (R. 62:6.) The court explained that the March report stated "that the child had commented at school that it felt good to have your privates sucked on. The child was reported to have commented that this was information gleaned from Garfield." (R. 62:6.) It noted that "[a]ll of this information was in Inv. Hintz's reports." (R. 62:6.)

The court said that defense counsel should have received (or requested) the CPS reports before trial, but concluded that Hineman failed to demonstrate prejudice resulting from the omission because the relevant information in the March report had been reproduced in Hintz's police report: "The issue is whether harm was done. None seems to have been. The information in Investigator Hintz's report corresponded to the information in the March . . . report." (R. 62:6.)

The court further held that the information in the March report would not have allowed counsel to better cross-examine Investigator Hintz because Hintz never testified that the CPS report contained an allegation that Hineman touched S.S. The court also noted that had counsel questioned Hintz from the March report, the jury would have learned that S.S. told his Dad that Hineman had told him about oral sex. (R. 62:7.) Counsel, in the court's view, wisely "decided to let the matter drop rather than to delve into it" to avoid the danger of the jury's learning of Hineman's possible connection to S.S.'s knowledge of oral sex. (R. 62:7.)

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 14 of 34

As for the ineffective assistance claim based on counsel's failure to file a *Shiffra/Green* motion for S.S.'s records, the postconviction court concluded that Hineman merely speculated "that some of his statements in therapy would bear upon the issues at trial," and that Hineman failed to satisfy the "fact specific evidentiary showing" required under *Green* to obtain in camera review of the records. (R. 62:12.)

Hineman appealed, and the court of appeals reversed, ordering a new trial. It effectively re-weighed the relative credibility of S.S. to Hineman based on a review of the transcripts, minimizing Hineman's statements and actions that undermined his credibility, and highlighting inconsistencies in nine-year-old S.S.'s word choices and inability to nail down details of the alleged assault between the forensic interview and trial. (Pet-App. 112–14.)

It then concluded that the March report was material because it could have been used to impeach Hintz's testimony, which in its view "no doubt" bolstered S.S.'s credibility and "misled the jury" in what was a "close" case. (Pet-App. 113–20.)

The court also reached the *Shiffra/Green* issue that Hineman had raised as a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in the postconviction motion, but that he did not pursue on appeal. (Pet-App. 121–23.) It did not address the State's argument that the claim was abandoned or Hineman's arguments to the postconviction court. Instead, the court of appeals developed a factual basis based on the fact that S.S.'s therapist was a mandatory reporter to conclude the Hineman satisfied his burden under *Green*. It ordered production and in-camera review of S.S.'s private therapy files related to the mandatory report on remand. (Pet-App. 123.)

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 15 of 34

ARGUMENT

I. Review is warranted to clarify how courts are to apply the *Brady* materiality or *Strickland* prejudice standard in cases turning on the credibility of the victim and the defendant.

The first issue involves Hineman's claim that the absence of the March 12 CPS report from discovery violated his due process rights, either based on the State's duty to turn over that report under Brady, or his trial counsel's failure to file a motion to compel production of the report. The issue is not whether Hineman should have obtained the report. As the State conceded below, either the prosecutor should have sought it from the police or defense counsel should have filed a motion to compel production of it. The question is whether Hineman established that the omission was prejudicial, under either of the identical standards set forth in Brady and *Strickland*. This is a high standard for defendants to satisfy. Yet in sexual assault cases that turn on credibility, courts tend to (as the court of appeals did here) reframe the witnesses' credibility based on their reading of the transcript, call the case "close" because it turned on credibility, and not afford any additional deference to the jury or trial court that watched the trial, saw the witnesses in person, and considered the witnesses' tone, delivery, body language, and other intangibles.

The result, in the State's view, is a thumb on the scale toward reversal in these hard-fought cases. Approaching the question of materiality or prejudice as the court of appeals did here reduces the defendant's high burden of proof, it discounts the jury's credibility determination, and it fails to account for the postconviction court's factual findings and determinations. On that last point, this approach is particularly problematic when the postconviction court, like the jury, observed the trial witnesses and formed a perspective on the proceedings that the court of appeals

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 16 of 34

cannot reproduce with its paper-only review. Accordingly, this Court's guidance is warranted on the application of this constitutional standard.

A. Materiality under *Brady* and prejudice under *Strickland* require a defendant to show a reasonable probability of a different result.

Evidence is material for *Brady* purposes "only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *State v. Garrity*, 161 Wis. 2d 842, 850, 469 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1991) (quoting *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)). The test for materiality is the same as the test for prejudice in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *State v. Wayerski*, 2019 WI 11, ¶ 36, 385 Wis. 2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468.

"Impeachment evidence is *not* material, and thus a new trial is *not* required 'when the suppressed impeachment evidence merely furnishes an additional basis on which to impeach a witness whose credibility has already been shown to be questionable." *State v. Rockette*, 2006 WI App 103, ¶ 41, 294 Wis. 2d 611, 718 N.W.2d 269 (citation omitted). "Generally, where impeachment evidence is merely cumulative and thereby has no reasonable probability of affecting the result of trial, it does not violate the *Brady* requirement." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Dweck*, 913 F.2d 365, 371 (7th Cir. 1990)).

The test for materiality under *Brady* and prejudice under *Strickland* both carry presumptions against reversal. Reviewing courts presume that counsel provides reasonable representation and apply "a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690–91. Likewise, there is a "general presumption of regularity and

Case 2020AP000226 Petition for Review Filed 12-23-2021 Page 17 of 34

propriety" applied to the prosecutor's discharge of their *Brady*-mandated duties. *See State ex rel. Lynch v. County Court*, 82 Wis. 2d 454, 467–68, 262 N.W.2d 773 (1978).

It's a high burden for defendants to overcome. As Strickland teaches, "[c]ounsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted). That standard applies to all cases, regardless whether they are credibility contests. True, one serious error can support a finding of prejudice, and the relative strength of the State's case factors into the materiality and prejudice analyses. But simply calling a credibility case "close" and deeming any missing evidence that could possibly bear on credibility a game-changer can't be a sound application of the materiality or prejudice standards. Otherwise, it is hard to see how any a credibility-based sexual assault trial would withstand this sort of challenge on appeal. Rather, to show prejudice, the defendant has to show exactly how the complained-of error undermined the reliability of the proceedings. And when the case turns on a credibility determination, the totality of the evidence considered must include not just the transcribed testimony, but also the lesstangible things that the jury considered observing the witnesses.

Here, the court of appeals effectively reweighed credibility to the extent that it failed to consider the factors outside a clinical reading of the transcript that could have affected the jury's credibility determination, for failing to defer to the postconviction court's findings, and for speculating on the relative effect that the missing report could have had in this case. And in doing so, it ordered a new trial based on non-production of a document whose relevant contents were disclosed to the defense in another report and that, as the circuit court found, may very well have harmed the defense had it been introduced at trial.

B. The court of appeals' reasoning effectively usurped the jury's credibility determination by reframing the facts in the light most favorable to Hineman.

To start, the court of appeals correctly stated that this case came down to whether the jury found S.S. or Hineman more credible. (Pet-App. 112.) But the court's analysis took an abrupt turn when it effectively reframed the facts in the light most favorable to Hineman.

For example, it acknowledged that Hineman avoided the police and lied to them when they first contacted him in August and that Hineman suggested that the allegations and the family's cutting him off stemmed from other slights that couldn't have been the cause. (Pet-App. 112.) But it dismissed the significance of those things, saying that those acts had innocent explanations as well. (Pet-App. 112.)

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