Page 1 of 12

**RECEIVED** 01-06-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP000226-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

Filed 01-06-2022

v.

JEFFREY L. HINEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

FRANCES REYNOLDS COLBERT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050435

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 colbertf@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Filed 01-06-2022

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The court of appeals applied the correct standard when it determined the state's failure to turn over the March 12 CPS report was in violation of Hineman's due process rights and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

In this case, the state refused to provide the defense with the child protective services report that was faxed to and in law enforcement's possession. The report first identified Hineman as a suspect in sexually abusing a child and triggered the criminal investigation leading the charges in this case, though the report clearly stated that "there had been no disclosure of maltreatment by the child." (48:6). The court of appeals held the suppression of this favorable evidence was material to the defense and its suppression violated Hineman's constitutional due process rights under Brady. Hineman, slip op., ¶29. Having lost the appeal, the state now asks this Court to "clarify" the materiality standard.

In asking for review of the materiality standard, the state does not cite any conflicting approaches or varying interpretations of materiality under Brady. Rather, the state seems to be arguing that in cases where there is no physical evidence and guilt or innocence depends entirely credibility on determinations, and the Brady standard should not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The state asserts this was inadvertent, however, the state continued to refuse to provide it when it was requested postconviction. Hineman had to file multiple motions and obtain a court order before the document was produced. (40, 41, 42, 91:2).

apply. The state, it seems, would prefer the sufficiency of the evidence standard, wherein, evidence is viewed in a light most favorable to the state and "convictions are upheld when the record shows a bare modicum of evidence from which a reasonable jury could find guilt." State v. Sholar, 2018 WI 53, ¶45, 381 Wis. 2d 560, 912 N.W.2d 89. But no court has ever said that this, or anything close to it, in cases involving violations of constitutional rights.

There parties agree – as articulated by the state in its petition -:

> Evidence is material for *Brady* purposes "only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Garrity, 161 Wis. 2d 842, 850, 469 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1991) (quoting *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)). The test for materiality is the same as the test for prejudice in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). State v. Wayerski, 2019 WI 11, ¶36, 385 Wis. 2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468.

State's Pet. for. Rev. at 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The state cites cases discussing a deferential standard of review in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Pet. for Rev. at 17-18. The deferential standard is in reference to decisions trial counsel made and the deficient performance prong. This has nothing to do with a *Brady* claim. On appeal, whether undisputed facts establish a *Brady* violation is reviewed de novo. See State v. Rockette, 2006 WI App 103, ¶39, 294 Wis. 2d 611, 718 N.W.2d 269.

Thus, the inquiry centers on whether there is a "reasonable probability" of a different outcome had the errors not occurred. In establishing materiality, a defendant "need not prove the outcome would 'more likely than not' be different." *Sholar*, 381 Wis. 2d 560, ¶44 (*quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693). The issue is not whether the defendant is actually innocent, but instead whether he would have had a "reasonable chance" of acquittal absent the errors. *Stanley v. Bartley*, 465 F.3d 810, 814 (7th Cir. 2006) ("it needn't be a 50 percent or greater chance").

The court of appeals was right to consider the materiality question "in light of the lack of strength of the state's case." Hineman, slip op., ¶38. A prejudice or materiality inquiry must "consider the totality of the evidence before ... the jury. A verdict ... that is overwhelmingly supported by the record is less likely to have been affected by errors than one that is only weakly supported by the record." *Hough v. Anderson*, 272 F.3d 878, 891 (7th Cir. 2001) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696). The state takes issue with some of the ways the court of appeals characterized the evidence and spends much of its petition cherrypicking and recasting the evidence in a light most favorable to the state, but it simply cannot be said this was a case that displayed strong evidence of guilt. There was no consistent statement about what happened or when, there was a significant delay in reporting, there was no physical evidence, no thirdparty observations of inappropriate behaviors or other corroborating evidence.

The court of appeals correctly found the exculpatory evidence was material to the defense because it could have been used to impeach the

investigating officer's false testimony that the March 12 report contained a statement that SJS had previously reported inappropriate touching. *Hineman*, slip op., ¶¶20, 39-40, 46-47. Had this evidence been used to impeach Officer Hintz, this alone would have created a reasonable probability the jury would have acquitted. But the court of appeals also correctly recognized that there is a reasonable probability that the suppression of this evidence truncated the defense's ability to probe the reliability of the state's entire investigation. Id.,  $\P 43-44$ .

Notably, the record in this case contains concrete evidence that shows the jury was concerned and wanted more information about the circumstances of the disclosure that lead to the March 12 report:

march 12th? /when/who reported to CPS?

(Jury Question #1 (22)).

Because the defense went to trial having no idea who reported concerns of sexual abuse to CPS or how Hineman became a suspect, there was no way it could have presented evidence regarding these questions at trial or effectively crossed the state's witnesses on these issues. The court of appeals applied the correct standard when it determined that it was reasonably probable that the suppression of the March 12 CPS report affected the outcome of this case. There is nothing about the court of appeals' application of the *Brady* materiality standard that warrants review.

Filed 01-06-2022

#### II. The court of appeals correctly ruled that Hineman is entitled to an in camera review of SJS's treatment records based on Hineman's interest of justice claim.

As noted above, Hineman's request for an in camera review of SJS's treatment records was based on a squarely raised interest of justice claim, not an abandoned ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See State v. Zdzieblowski, 2014 WI App 130, ¶24, 359 Wis. 2d 102, 857 N.W.2d 622 (an appellate court may reverse a conviction if it determines the real controversy has not been fully tried); see also Wis. Stat. § 752.35.

At the *Machner*<sup>5</sup> hearing, trial counsel testified that she did not bring a *Shiffra/Green* motion because she thought SJS was in therapy for behavior problems that had nothing to do with the alleged sexual abuse. (82:30). She further testified that had she known that the mandatory reporter was SJS's therapist, and/or that it was the therapist who developed the concern that SJS's misbehaviors were a result of being sexually abused by Hineman, she would have filed a Shiffra/Green motion. (82:30). The fact is, she did not know because the report was not disclosed to her. Because she was missing information the state should have turned over – information directly relevant to the Shiffra/Green motion – a deficient performance argument becomes convoluted and Hineman did, in fact, abandon the ineffective assistance of counsel claim with respect to Shiffra/Green.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

Hineman did not abandon the claim that SJS's therapy records "contain relevant information necessary to a determination of guilt or innocence and is not merely cumulative to other evidence available to the defendant." *Green*, 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶34. Citing the relevant law governing the disclosure of treatment records, Hineman requested an in camera review of the records pursuant to an interest of justice claim. (App. Brief-in-Chief at 40).

The court of appeals agreed that there was "at least 'a reasonable likelihood that the therapists records' related to her report to CPS on March 12 contain relevant information..." *Hineman*, slip op., ¶52 (citing Green, 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶34). The state does not argue that court of appeals cited the wrong standard or misapplied it, only that it reached the wrong result. As pointed out above, being disappointed with the result does not create a basis for this Court's review.

# III. The seriousness of the crime and speculation that Hineman will not be retried is not a basis for this Court's review.

Wisconsin. Stat. (Rule) 809.62(1r) lists the criteria for this Court's review. The fact that a case involves a serious crime or that there is speculation that the defendant may not be retried is not among the criteria listed. Review is not warranted.

Filed 01-06-2022

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny the state's Petition for Review.